
Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

TOWN COUNCIL AGENDA
Regular Meeting

Wednesday, May 09, 2018
6:00 PM

Council Chambers

1.    CALL TO ORDER

2.    PROOF OF POSTING

3.    ROLL CALL

4.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

5.    SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS

5.a    Hooksett Municipal Employees - New HIres

5.b    2018 Citizen of the Year - Jeff Scott 
Staff_Report 2018 COY.docx

COY.pdf

6.    SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS

6.a    Annual Activity Update - Trustees of the Trust Fund 

6.b    Christine Soucie, Finance Director - Quarterly Financial Report  for the Third Quarter of FY
2017-18.

Quarterly Financial Report 3-31-18.pdf

6.c    Gianna Valentino

6.d    Police Chief Janet Bouchard - General Discussion

7.    APPROVAL OF MINUTES

7.a    Public:  04/25/18
TC Agenda 042518.docx

7.b    Public:  04/30/18
TC Minutes 043018-U.docx

1

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/181183/Staff_Report_2018_COY.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/181184/COY.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/181099/Quarterly_Financial_Report_3-31-18.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182101/TC_Agenda_042518.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182607/TC_Minutes_043018-U.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

8.    AGENDA OVERVIEW

9.    PUBLIC HEARINGS

10.    CONSENT AGENDA

10.a    Motion to accept the donation of $2,500.00 from Monique Cote-Melendez, to the Town of
Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (b) and return that amount to the
Police Departments 2017-2018/2018-2019 fiscal budget, Donation line. 

Staff Report - Cote-Melendez K9 Donation.docx

11.    TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT

12.    PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES

13.    NOMINATIONS AND APPOINTMENTS

14.    15 MINUTE RECESS

15.    OLD BUSINESS

15.a    New Pedestrian Bridge Update - ($240,134.01 Change Order tabled from 4/25/18 Town
Council Meeting)

Staff Report - Lilac Pedestrial Bridge - Change order 2.docx

Lilac Pedestrian Bridge Change Order 2.pdf

LilacBridge#2.Memo - S. Keach.pdf

15.b    Rte. 3A & Hackett Hill Road Roundabout Update

16.    NEW BUSINESS

16.a    Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-Exempt Obligations 
SR Post Issucance Policy.docx

Hooksett's Post Issuance Compliance Policy.doc

16.b    15 Cross Road, LLC - Memorandum of Agreement for subdivision improvements at 15
Cross Road Tax Map 17, Lot 37

SR 15 Cross Road.docx

2

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/180456/Staff_Report_-_Cote-Melendez_K9_Donation.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182610/Staff_Report_-_Lilac_Pedestrial_Bridge_-_Change_order_2.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182611/Lilac_Pedestrian_Bridge_Change_Order_2.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182612/LilacBridge_2.Memo_-_S._Keach.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/179986/SR_Post_Issucance_Policy.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/179987/Hooksett_s_Post_Issuance_Compliance_Policy.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182052/SR_15_Cross_Road.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

MOU Cross Road.12.04.17.CLEAN.DOCX

16.c    2018 Paving Bids
Staff Report - 2018 Road Paving Bids.docx

2018 Advanced Paving Bid.pdf

2018 GMI Asphalt Paving Bid.pdf

2018 Brox Paving Bid.pdf

2018 Pike Paving Bid.pdf

16.d    Comcast Renewal
Comcast Letter 041018.pdf

16.e    Hooksett Shuttle Program - Status Update and Proposed Rider Criteria Changes
staff report - shuttle program.docx

16.f    Approval of a Town Newsletter - Spring Tax Bill Insert
Staff_Report_-__Tax_Bill_Newsletter.docx

16.g    Fire Chief Employment Contract Amendment
FIRE CHIEF BURKUSH CONTRACT AMEND 042617.pdf

17.    SUB-COMMITTEE REPORTS

18.    PUBLIC INPUT

19.    NON-PUBLIC SESSION

19.a    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (a) The dismissal, promotion, or compensation of any public employee or
the disciplining of such employee, or the investigation of any charges against him or her.

19.b    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (b) The hiring of any person as a public employee.

19.c    NH RSA 91-A:3 II (c) Matters which, if discussed in public, would likely affect adversely the
reputation of any person, other than a member of the public body itself.

20.    ADJOURNMENT

Public Input

3

https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182054/MOU_Cross_Road.12.04.17.CLEAN.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182050/Staff_Report_-_2018_Road_Paving_Bids.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/180199/2018_Advanced_Paving_Bid.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/180200/2018_GMI_Asphalt_Paving_Bid.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/180201/2018_Brox_Paving_Bid.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/180202/2018_Pike_Paving_Bid.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182638/Comcast_Letter_041018.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/180609/staff_report_-_shuttle_program.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/180656/Staff_Report_-__Tax_Bill_Newsletter.pdf
https://legistarweb-production.s3.amazonaws.com/uploads/attachment/pdf/182641/FIRE_CHIEF_BURKUSH_CONTRACT_AMEND_042617.pdf


Anyone requesting auxiliary aids or services is asked to contact
the Administration Department five business days prior to the meeting.

1. Two 15-minute Public Input sessions will be allowed during each Council Meeting. Time
will be divided equally among those wishing to speak, however,no person will be allowed
to speak for more than 5 minutes. 

2. No person may address the council more than twice on any issue in any
meeting.Comments must be addressed to the Chair and must not be personal or
derogatory about any other person.

3. Any questions must be directly related to the topic being discussed and must be
addressed to the Chair only, who after consultation with Council and Town Administrator,
will determine if the question can be answered at that time. Questions cannot be directed
to an individual Councilor and must not be personal in nature. Issues raised during Public
Input, which cannot be resolved or answered at that time, or which require additional
discussion or research, will be noted by the Town Administrator who will be responsible
for researching and responding to the comment directly during normal work hours or by
bringing to the Council for discussion at a subsequent meeting. The Chair reserves the
right to end questioning if the questions depart from clarification to deliberation.

4. Council members may request a comment be added to New Business at a subsequent
meeting. 

5. No one may speak during Public Input except the person acknowledged by the Chair.
Direct questions or comments from the audience are not permitted during Public Input.

4



Staff Report
Title:  2018 Citizen of the Year, Jeff Scott

Date: May 9th, 2018
Background Discussion of Issues
The Hooksett Lion’s Club has selected Jeff Scott as the 2018 Hooksett Citizen of the Year. Each year, the Town 

Council presents a proclamation to the recipient at the Citizen of the Year Ceremony, which will be held on on 
Friday evening, May 18th, 2018 at the Puritan Conference Center. Social hour will begin at 6:00pm, followed by 
dinner and program at 7:00pm.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to authorize the Chair or his designee to present the Citizen of the Year Proclamation as read to 
Jeff Scott at the 2018 Citizen of the Year Dinner and Ceremony 

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

1

TOWN COUNCIL Regular Meeting
Wednesday, April 25, 2018

6:00 PM
Council Chambers

MINUTES

CALL TO ORDER
Chairman Sullivan called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.

PROOF OF POSTING
Dr. Shankle provided proof of posting.

ATTENDANCE
Chairman James Sullivan, Councilor Robert Duhaime, Councilor John Giotas, Councilor Marc
Miville, Councilor James Levesque, Councilor David Ross, Councilor Timothy Tsantoulis, 
and Councilor Donald Winterton.
Absent: Councilor Alex Walczyk,

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

SPECIAL RECOGNITIONS
Hooksett Municipal Employees - New Hires

Town Council - District #4 Councilor Marc Miville
Councilor Marc Miville is resigning to become Town Moderator. A plaque was present to him 
In recognition of his years of service.

SCHEDULED APPOINTMENTS
Kiwanis - September Trail Race
Mike Horne: Kiwanis is planning to do the race with Old Home Day. It will be called “Book It to 
the Library.” They would like approval. Kiwanis will get insurance for $1 million. They will get 
permission from property owners that are crossed. They are looking to borrow some traffic 
barricades and cones. We hope the Council will support this. This is a family event where it is a 
walk/run event. This is an opportunity to use and see the trail that is available in the town.

Donald Winterton motioned that the Council recommend the Staff does whatever is necessary
to facilitate at the race on September 15. Seconded by David Ross.
Vote unanimously in favor 

Police Chief Bouchard - new department program
The Chief was joined by Officer Jordan McCluskey and Sergeant Michael Zappala. 
Both officers were recently recognized by the American Legion.

14



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

2

Chief Bouchard: We are keeping the department moving forward and implementing new 
programs. I have been speaking to employees and residents and have found there is an interest in 
getting a K-9 unit in Hooksett. We are looking for the Council’s support. 
(See PowerPoint)

D. Winterton motioned that the Council support the Chief and the Police Department in their 
Fundraising efforts to bring the K-9 Program back to the Hooksett Police Department. 
Seconded by D. Ross
Vote unanimously in favor.

APPROVAL OF MINUTES
Public:  04/11/18
R. Duhaime motioned to approve the minutes of April 4, 2018. Seconded by J. Giotas.
Vote unanimously in favor with corrections

CONSENT AGENDA
D. Winterton motioned to accept the donation of $250.00 from Wal-Mart to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Hooksett Fire-Rescue Dept. per RSA 31:95 b III (b). Seconded by D. 
Winterton.
Vote unanimously in favor
Staff Report Walmart 042518.docx

D. Winterton motioned to accept the donation of $250.00 (two $125.00 checks) from the Wing 
family to the Town of Hooksett under RSA 31:95-b III (b).  These funds will be applied to the 
Town fund and reported as revenue which will increase the Town’s fund balance used to 
offset taxes.  Seconded by R. Duhaime.
Vote unanimously in favor
SR_Unanticipated_Rev_under_10K.docx
Wing Family Donation.pdf

D. Winterton expressed concern that addresses are not provided from the person making the 
donation. 

Staff will provide clarification on how the donation process works.

TOWN ADMINISTRATOR'S REPORT
 Working on the Fire Union negotiations. 
 Attended a meeting at the American Legion
 Attended a meeting with SNHU
 In the process of advertising for the DPW Director position.
 There are two new hires

Ricky Demers-Park and Rec Driver/Laborer and 
Joseph Devarenne – Driver/Laborer (part time)

 Resignation
One (1) Driver/Laborer left for a $7/hr. increase.

 One (1) application was received for the Fun in the Sun Health Care position
15



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

3

 Currently searching for Secretary (Part time) in Administration
 A letter was received from Comcast. 

The Letter was read to the Council regarding renewal of their agreement.(see 5/9/18 
agenda & minutes)

Comcast will be placed on the next agenda to discuss how the Council would like to move 
forward.

 Our Police Chief will be going into a Leadership in Public Service Certificate Program. 
At SNHU this morning, they agreed to scholarship that program.

 The Fun in the Sun Program is not full and there is still plenty of space for campers.
 We were accepted to the Municipal Bond bank for the Safety Center bond. wE will need 

a special meeting next Monday night to accept it. It must be done by the 8th of May. 

A meeting will be scheduled for April 30th at 6:00 pm.

 We will discuss the issue of discontinuing Districts for Councilors at the annual 
workshop.
Mr. Miville stated he is in favor of eliminating Districts. 

 State Law permits people to carry weapons, even on School Property. This is particularly 
concerning during an election. With school in session, I don’t know if the School Board 
has addressed that.

Mr. Sullivan: There is a School policy that restricts weapons of any type. I suggest you reach out 
to the Superintendent. It may be an issue that the town and school need to work out.

 The Hooksett Police Department is conducting an active shooter drill at the Cawley 
Middle School this week.

Chief Bouchard: The training is going well. All the officers will participate over three (3) days. It 
is a very realistic training with students involved as actors. We are shooting blanks and the first 
exercise with live shooting of blanks raises the intensity of the training. There is no down time. 
CBS news in Boston is interested in filming this training.

 The Hooksett Preservation has requested a proclamation for Preservation Month, May 
2018. (read letter – see attached)

M. Miville motioned to proclaim May 20th as Preservation Day in Hooksett. Seconded by D. 
Ross.
Vote unanimously in favor.

PUBLIC INPUT - 15 MINUTES
Jo Ann McHugh, 14 Jefferson St: I was the town individual who spoke to the Town
Administrator and the Superintendent regarding the incident that happened at the election. I 
Spoke to Chief Bartlett at the time and I didn’t know that public law is if a State has open carry, 
that rules the day; therefore they have the right to come in and open carry at the election. It is the 
concern of both the student and community and what protocol is in place to insure that nothing 

16



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

4

happens. People have suggested they close school every time they vote. That is fine but when 
adding snow days, the calendar gets extended. What about locking the whole section of the 
school? I just brought it up as a concerned parent, grandmother and citizen and I think a decision 
has to be made between the town and the school. Are we forced to hold our election in another 
location? I appreciate Dr. Shankle taking the time to discuss this and I ask that you work with 
the school on this matter.

Peter Salvitti, representing Utility Service Assistance: We submitted a bid for street lighting that 
will be voted on tonight. We saw bid numbers and about three (3) weeks later we were asked to 
show our fixtures. I’ve learned that it is possible that the low bid is going to be accepted by the 
Board which is Pine Ridge Technologies. I have been in touch with Diane and asked Pine Ridge
to provide me with the name of the fixtures to compare apples to apples. We compare the 
wattage so you have enough light. They said they don’t know what manufacturer they are using. 
I called Pine Ridge to get the manufacturers name. I just received it on the way here. The 
company, Leo Tech, uses components from different manufacturers. The company I represent is 
Philips Lighting. I noticed in the parking lots that they are using 18 watt in place of a 50 watt. 
That brings the cost much lower than I can provide at a 25 watts. There was no wattage 
requested by the town. I heard they were going to come in with 15 watt fixtures and undercut us. 
My suspicion is when a union company comes here from Mass with a bid of $9000 lower than 
mine which has been worked on to give a reduced cost, my conclusion is with the information on 
the fixtures they are using, I hoping we can postpone the bid finalization and I can take another 
look. My fixtures have a smart tag. There is a code that can be scanned and goes on a GIS map. 
It has location, date of installation and wattage. It is a feature no one else offers. We build all of 
our fixtures. I don’t know how long Leo Tech has been around. This fixture alone will show why 
it is worth more money. If you can give me some more time before you award the bid, I can 
prepare the information.

Peter Farrwell, 24 Grant Drive: I want to thank Councilor Miville for his work on the Council. 
He has always worked for our neighborhood. 
I’ve talked to several people about the roundabout at 3A and I haven’t found anyone who is 
aware of it and secondly, are in favor of it. They are more concerned about the traffic at Main 
and 3A. I’ve done an informal survey and I see little back-up where the roundabout is going to 
be except for at 4 or 5 o’clock. The infusion of the construction when it is being built including 
the increase in trucks from Route 93will be huge. Ask the State to go two (2) years with a traffic 
light and if it doesn’t work then you can take it out. 
Since we have had the Franchise fee with Comcast; the Farrwells have paid $600 in fees. Not 
everyone pays it. If you have Direct TV, you don’t pay; so only the Comcast people are paying it 
and  that is unfair.
A couple months ago the Kiwanians spoke to you about the splash pad and they worked very 
hard to bring forward a great plan. You slammed the door in their face. Here is an organization 
that worked very hard. Those that are on the Council next term should look at a Rec. Hall for the 
town. I realize there is a cost and insurance but this is a chance for all in the community to work 
together and look at Rec. Hall.
With the Union Leader not having a representative here and the limited Banner, we get little 
information on what is happening here. I talked to Dr. Shankle about asking other directors to 
write weekly articles in the Banner. The story of the K-9 officer is great and we don’t hear about 

17



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

5

it. Maybe we can get an intern to do some publicity for us. 
I was disturbed at the recyclable cost. If it is costing us so much, maybe it is time to get rid of the 
program and discontinue the truck. We should just have one truck to take care of everything.

OLD BUSINESS
Stipend reimbursement (tabled from 04/11/18 Town Council Meeting)
D. Winterton motioned to remove this from the table. Seconded by R. Duhaime.
Vote unanimously in favor

D. Winterton motioned to accept the contract stipend reimbursement of $4,995 from the State 
of New Hampshire Police Standards and Training Council, to the Town of Hooksett for the 
Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b: III(b) and to return the funds to the Police 
Department’s 2017-2018 fiscal budget under the wage line 
Seconded by T. Tsantoulis
Vote unanimously in favor
Staff Report - PSTC Stipend Reimbursement.docx
20180323145852161.pdf

48 Pine Street Map 5 Lot 86 (4/11/18 Town Council Motion for Planning Board Review)
Staff Report - 48 Pine St..docx
J. Sullivan motioned to remove this item from the table. Seconded by D. Winterton.
Vote unanimously in favor

Dr. Shankle: The Planning Board met with Matt Surge. Per the minutes, the Planning Board 
should send a letter to Council recommending approval. The opinion of the Planning Board was 
the town’s liability was removed.

D. Winterton motioned to accept the well radii release form in lieu of the previously approved 
well radii easement. Seconded by R. Duhaime

D. Ross: My concern is the town’s liability. Where is the document that says the town is 
removed forever from causing infiltration to the well?

Dr. Shankle: The Town’s legal counsel says we will not be liable but I agree with Mr. Ross.

D. Ross: This is only a legal opinion. It is advice. There is also a precedent for someone else to 
be allowed to do this as well. Without a document that says we cannot be held liable, I can’t 
support this.

M. Miville: What is the liability? Should we vote no?

Dr. Shankle: If you vote no, they can’t drill a well. I don’t know what they will do. There is 
water near it. There will be a cost. My thoughts are based on the fact that you will never get out 
of the liability and we will spend money defending ourselves in court.

T. Tsantoulis: My concern is for the town and the homeowners as the process plays forward. 

18



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

6

The well radii is needed to keep the well away from contaminants. I understand the contractor’s 
concern and they assumed they could put a well in and since found out they can’t. I don’t like 
putting the town at a future risk because of a water issue down the line. And since there is a 
remedy, although at a great cost, that would be the best thing to do. I would not be in favor of the 
motion.

J. Levesque: I agree with Dr. Shankle and I think we should adhere to our regulations.

J. Sullivan: I don’t know why it is under the authority of the Council to overrule regulations. I 
don’t think the Council has ever ruled against a regulation. I will agree with the recommendation 
of the Planning Board.

D. Winterton: The Planning Board grants waivers and the Zoning Board grants variances. This is 
neither. 

Roll Call Vote
R. Duhaime No
M. Miville No
D. Ross No
J. Levesque No
J. Giotas No
D. Winterton Yes
T. Tsantoulis No
J. Sullivan Yes
Vote 2:6 motion failed

Rte. 3A & Hackett Hill Road Roundabout Update
Dr. Shankle sent a letter last week as requested by the Council. 

New Pedestrian Bridge Update
Staff Report - Change order 2 - ED Swett.docx
Transfer #2018-03.pdf

Diane Boyce introduced Steve Keach, Town consulting engineer and Darin Benoit and Bob 
Durfee from Dubois and King.
Darin Benoit: The bridge section is in place. The structural concrete is done. The sewer line is 
done. They are working on the water line which is not in service yet but should be in a week. The 
next step is to bring in the communication lines. There are four (4) underground ducts of which 
two (2) will be full and two (2) are for future use. The plan is for completion on May 13, 2018. 
The final completion date of the contract is June 1, 2018.

D. Boyce: With this change order we are asking for payments tonight.
ED Swett submitted Change Order #2 in the amount of $240,134.01. of this $240,134.01, 
$100,000 will be coming from contingency money built into the project; the State of NH DOT is 
providing the Town with an additional $100,000 for their share of the project.

19



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

7

J. Sullivan: What is the need for the change?

S. Keach: I came into the project after the change on April 2nd when I attended a meeting with 
Diane and others on the project. I then got the project documents. The Change Order #2 was 
issued on January 18th and was a request of a change, not a change in material as much as the 
logistics of the project. They include winterize the sewer system by- pass, demobilization for 
winter shutdown, installation of site security for shut down, demobilization and increased effort 
to install line and water under-bridge during winter condition and increased effort to install 
timber decking. This results from the temporary shutdown in October. There was a shutdown for 
19 days.

Dr. Shankle: That is incorrect. There was not a shut down. At one point, I asked them if they 
could stop work on that end and they said yes, we can work on the other end, this will not hold 
us up.

S. Keach: That is contrary to what I was told. Per the contract documents, if there was a 
shutdown of work which was not caused by the contractor, and there was a delay in the work at a 
critical time, which the record showed the installation of accommodations for water and sewer; 
the contract is entitled to remedy. The remedy entitled to the contractor per the contract 
documents were to quantify that cost through a change order and submitted by the contractor on 
January 8th and processed by Dubois and King on January 18th. There are six pages of breakdown 
that relate to them. I will leave the matter of the shutdown to Dr. Shankle because he is familiar 
with it and Diane and I are not. Based on the material aspect of the change order, I was asked to 
comment by Diane on Change Order #2 which I wrote on April 5th. 
I have 3 bullets, two are factual and the third is my opinion (read from report)

Darin Benoit: This was supposed to be done in December, so these costs are for storage.

Dr. Shankle: Can you tell me they had everything they needed on site on December 9th because I 
know that it is not true.

Darin Benoit: The role of Dubois and King… there is an understanding that there is an 
adversarial condition. We are just instituting the contract. We started working on this Change 
Order #2 on December 5th. We established the format for this with town staff. When this was put 
in place it was outside of the 30 days we had to put it in place. The contract says after a certain 
amount of item, we don’t wait for future pricing. It is unfair and outside the spirit to look at real 
costs 4 months later. The contractor is taking the risk. We are not trying to put the contractor at a 
disadvantage. We are an arbiter. We verified these costs. Working for the town, we verified the 
numbers. Looking back at the documents, we had regular construction meeting and we said we 
were not working on the water line with these conditions. Month after month they didn’t work on 
the water line. That was agreed by the team. Now you are going outside the bounds of fairness.

S. Keach: The preparation of Change Order 2 was based on the Town’s record and done at the 
request of the Town Engineer at the time and in the time frame requested. 

20



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

8

Dr. Shankle: One of the issues had been the town attorney has told us not to pay the bills and to 
only consider paying Change Order# 2 if it will impact the Town’s ability to receive State 
funding. Have we found out if that is true? The State is not involved in the building of the bridge. 
They were involved in tearing down the old bridge. Do we know that the State has an issue with 
us not paying Change Order #2?

Darin Benoit: The State letter has 3 items. The State doesn’t check all the records and they have 
paid $340,000. They look at the demo and the sewer by-pass. Without us being able to build the 
by-pass, we cannot do that. Demobilization of the sewer line is the third item. Those items have 
been completed and invoiced and have not been paid. The State is looking for those receipts.

Dr. Shankle: What about a partial payment?

Darin Benoit: The issue is you need the contractor to invoice appropriately to make a partial 
payment.

R. Duhaime: I would like more information to make this decision. We hired you as the engineers 
to look out for us. As an engineering firm, there should be some cost savings; where did you save 
us money? You have been clerk of the works; where were our savings?  Instead you are looking 
for more money. You should show us more information on where we are and where we going. 
These are speculative numbers and there are no hours and numbers and you are saying the 
forecasts look about right. Where is the breakdown of the extra hours due to winter?

S. Keach: I believe the information is in the change order.

Darin Benoit: If you look at the work that has been done, we are very close to our budget. But 
when we did the shutdown that changed. We are not looking to be under budget, we have a 
budget and that is how we worked. They were not able to conclude this project in December. 
They demobilized and remobilized with a difficult winter. That delta went from a smooth project 
to these problems.

R. Duhaime: Before work was hindered, was there anything ahead of schedule before this 
happened?

Dr. Shankle: I just didn’t decide it was time to stop the project. We never got what we ordered 
and we still haven’t gotten close and don’t what it will cost to fix it and we have been asking for 
that since December.

D. Winterton: Are you saying that if we had sat silent in October that the bridge would have been
up and operational in December?

Bob Durfee: At the time of the stop work order being issued, on October 10th, we were on 
schedule and on budget to complete in December.

D. Winterton: Was it what we contracted for? There is no one here that thinks we got what we 
contracted for. And who signed the stop order?

21



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

9

Bob Durfee: It was issued by the town and it was signed by either Dean Shankle or Jim Donison. 

D. Winterton: Can we get a copy of that document?

Daren Benoit: Yes and the town should have a copy since they wrote it.

J. Sullivan: There was one span which is not the way we wanted it. That is the root cause. When 
we were told of that discrepancy, we asked for a stop work on that span and asked for work to be 
done outside that area. Of this change order, which is a 19 day stop order, that is where I am 
confused.

Bob Durfee: The stop work order was issued by the town and worded to stop work on the north 
span. That stop work order was in effect for 10 weeks before it was lifted and the contractor 
resumed. That is approximately 10 weeks. That is what this change order is about; the effect of 
that change on the contractor. After the stop work order was issued, we convened a meeting of 
the team, the town, the contractor the engineer, the water precinct and the sewer commission and 
the purpose was to discuss the implications of the stop order and what work the contractor would 
stop work on and what items the engineer and contractor could continue with. At that meeting 
we came to an agreement on several items we wouldn’t continue and some we would continue 
on. Minutes of those meetings have been published.

J. Sullivan: Of the items that could not be done; those are reflected in this $240,000 or are there 
other items?

Bob Durfee: They are in the $240,000 Change Order. There are some items included that we 
determined had to continue because of the extended schedule, for example, because of the 10 
week delay, the contractor still had to do the by-pass pumping and pay electric bills. In that 
Change Order there are cost for some items that were agreed to be stopped under the stop work 
order but when they resumed there was additional cost, for example, we stopped installation of 
the water pipe on the bridge and also stopped installing the timber deck on the bridge in its
entirety because it will be less cost if we stop those items completely. Those costs are in this 
Change Order for the delay and restart up costs. Also, we stopped work on installing the water 
lines. Those are not the best examples of work that was stopped. There were items that once 
started were under winter conditions like digging in frost and concrete that must now be heated.

D. Winterton: Why did the State decide to pony-up an extra $100,000?

Bob Durfee: Because the engineer you hired prepared very good bid documents. The DOT 
agreed to reimburse on three (3) items: demolish the old bridge, pay for the cost of the by-pass 
sewer pumping and mobilization and demobilization of demolishing the bridge and put in the by-
pass. We estimated the cost for those 3 items at $650,000 and we provided our estimate to the 
DOT and they agreed to that $650,000. It went out to bid and then Swett came in with $750,000 
and the State agreed to pay the extra $100,000 which is the actual cost and not the estimate.

22



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

10

D. Ross: We need to know who ok’d the dimensional changes in the span. I have yet to see 
another bridge with dimensional changes because of the span. Who ok’d those dimensional 
changes?

Bob Durfee: The fabricator, Big R Bridges submitted drawings showing the detail and it showed 
different sizes for the north span. Shop drawings are submitted to the engineer and we reviewed 
and accepted it.

D. Ross: Are there others that look like that?

Bob Durfee: The original bridge had different dimensions. We accepted the shop drawings 
because they conformed to the contract.

D. Ross: During the meeting with the town regarding stopping work, was the cost presented to 
the town’s representative?

Bob Durfee: No, at this meeting the engineer and contractor recommended what items should not 
be discontinued. At a previous meeting, when the team had and the town was inquiring about the 
appearance of the north span, the town’s response was we are going to stop work on this project. 
The recommendation from the engineer was to continue and deal with the change in the span 
once the contract was complete.

D. Ross: The issue with DES and the change you made without informing them. Instead of using 
the barges, a lot of extra expense was used with barges.  What about those cost and why should 
the town pay that and who approved that?

Darin Benoit: A project manager on the contractor staff.  That person was terminated and the
new staff person raised his hand. The contractor was the one that self-notified and contacted 
DES. At that time everyone was aware of the situation.

Bob Durfee: The contract went to competitive bid and bids came in and bid evaluation awarded
to the lowest bidder which was Swett. That recommendation was reviewed by DOT and they
concurred. We scheduled a signing and pre-construction meeting and at that time the contract 
was signed. Approximately 5-7 days before that meeting, we were forwarded a notice from the 
town, from Eversource that they were lowering the river. We brought that to the signing meeting. 
The contractor said we will have to do something different. We were going to use barges and 
bridges but now we will have to do a causeway. The contractor said we are not predicting 
additional costs for the barges and to date they have not included any additional costs for that. At 
the signing meeting, the contractor said he would prepare the permit application for the 
causeway.

D. Ross: Was it your responsibility to make sure that happened?

Darin Benoit: We were working with the town and their engineer. Mr. Donison saw the 
application and it was signed by the town. 

23



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

11

J. Sullivan: The contractor said they would apply for the permit; was it done?

Bob Benoit: It was done but not in a timely manner. The contractor indicated he was going to do 
a change and build a causeway and a permit was needed from DES for that revision.
At that pre-construction meeting, the contractor said that. The next meeting was a month later for 
a construction progress meeting. At that time, with the contractor and the town, we had a new 
project manager from the contractor and he apologized and said he learnt that they never applied 
for the permit. The contractor took full responsibility for that error and would now apply and 
deal with the consequences. The contractor had already started construction of the causeway 
because they believed from the old manager that they had a permit. They admitted the error and 
were going to fix it.

Dr. Shankle:  My recollection, there was specifically a conversation that they had a permit for so 
many cubic yards and they believed, and you agreed, that the permit that they already had was 
adequate for what they were going to need to do. That was my understanding. I asked Mr. 
Donison and he said there is no reason to doubt them. So we were told specifically, because the 
question was asked; “Is this the same and will this work?”, and both you and the contractor said 
yes.

Bob Durfee: We had that conversation. The town had a permit for the original work in the
contract and that permit allowed the town and town’s contractor to disturb a certain areas of the 
river bottom, length and width. The contractor thought he could build his barge within that foot 
print and he could construct that causeway in that footprint. The engineer agreed that if he could 
do that it would be ok. They came back and said they can’t build the causeway in the footprint 
because it is too close to the project so we will have to go for an amended permit to extend the 
footprint. Some could be built under the original permit.

Dr. Shankle: The contractor never said he needed a new permit until the State came and said he 
was in violation and needed a new permit.

Bob Durfee: The town, Jim Donison, promised all the support the town could offer to get the 
amended permit which include going before the Conservation Commission. When the contractor 
eventually filled a permit for the causeway and sent it to DES; my recollection is DES rejected 
that permit application and that the town and the contractor are in violation of water regulation 
rules by putting the causeway in the river. They went ahead with the construction of the 
causeway assuming they were going to get the permit eventually.

D. Ross: The contractor said he was basing it on square footage not on the footprint. It is in the 
minutes. He thought he could rearrange the square footage. You can’t rearrange. Then the permit 
was denied and they were told to stop but they went ahead without a permit and removed it. That 
is called a dredging and needs a dredge permit. We don’t know what the town will be fined and 
what the penalty will be. You saw the road in the river. The State would never approve that. You 
were there too. We live in NH; what are winter conditions? Relocating the sewer was always part 
of the contract. We shouldn’t be paying a dime. This wasn’t our fault. This is in the center of 
town and the biggest concern from the beginning was how it would look. I am not impressed 
with SWETT or your outfit. And now to ask us for another $240,000 is ridiculous.

24



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

12

Information needed:
R. Duhaime: Our town engineer doesn’t build bridges, you were the bridge engineers. Did you 
have someone there daily overseeing this operation?

Bob: We have a contract that spells out the time and the town was to provide supplemental 
inspections.

R. Duhaime: We have a town engineer that could do some inspections but when there are 
savings, the contract defines who gets the cost savings. If you don’t want to lay the whole deck 
for costs and now you are doing the whole thing later and you want us to pay the increase. 
Maybe you should have done 2/3 and then done the rest. What he didn’t do in the fall may have 
saved him costs. You are now saying you have over runs. You are supposed to be protecting the 
town. I would expect a log.

Bob Durfee: That information is available. The Change Order is six (6) pages and breaks down 
all the costs.

Darin Benoit: The information you requested for equipment on and off the job, that isn’t done.

Bob Durfee: You need to see the complete Change Order which was proposed by the contractor. 
Under the contract, the engineer reviews it and we had our staff review the costs, the quantities 
and times and we found this request fair and reasonable. We found that the contractor had
provided enough justification that it was fair, reasonable and accurate.

R. Duhaime: The contractor said it wasn’t cost prohibitive to do this. That is the list I want.

Bob Durfee: You need to get the copy of the meeting minutes where we discussed the 
implications of the stop work order. 

S. Keach: There is a very complete project record, and without you all having that, you will not 
make a good decision. Your engineers Dubois and King have copious minutes. The other thing 
that is revealing; this project is set up with a critical document. Mr. Durfee advised that the
dispute and the interruption was clearly initiated by the town (October 6th) and concluded on 
November 14th.  You should have a copy of the project schedule that was in place in October and 
you will see where the project was tracking then. After the interruption, if you compare the two,
you will see the result of the true interruption. You will see what was allowed to continue and 
what Mr. Durfee said concurs with the meeting minutes. I understand I’m coming in as the 
Monday morning quarter back, but I see two areas that bore the frustration; the structural issues 
with the north span and the environmental issue. In terms of economy, if you have a span that is 
shorter than the other two, you wouldn’t spend the money for the extra steel. I also understand 
there was a tremendous effort to make the new Lilac Bridge resemble the old Lilac Bridge 
including making it look rusty. I also heard that the section of the shorter old span was different 
as well. That was news to me but if it were true, maybe that is what someone wanted. I don’t 
know. What is important isn’t where we were. We are trying to deliver this bridge; if not, I don’t 
belong here. This bridge needs to be finished. These matters of payment must be resolved if that 

25



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

13

is going to happen. If that is not, we need to put up some orange fence around it tomorrow.  We 
need to resolve this as quickly and cost effectively as possible. The only way this can happen is 
with town officials, Dubois and King and Swett. The State needs to be dealt with separately
because we don’t control that outcome. If we want the bridge done and May is Heritage month, 
isn’t that the spirit of the project.

J. Sullivan: We will table this and the entire document will be made available in the Planning 
Department.

S. Keach: As you read this, use the analytics to figure out how to bring this to successful fruition. 
We know what went wrong; we don’t want someone in a black robe telling us who is at fault.

Dr. Shankle: It would be helpful if we got what we asked for since the fall. We want a number of 
what it will cost to fix it.

Bob Durfee: The reason the town doesn’t have that is because of the mistrust. When the 
contractor was asked for a budget, they said “you’re asking for that budget number so that is the 
value of the lawsuit in a claim, so why should I provide that”. The contractor’s attorney has 
contacted the town’s attorney that if the contractor provided that number they don’t want it used 
against them.

D. Ross motioned to extend the meeting. Seconded by D. Winterton.

R. Duhaime: You keep saying what the problems are but I haven’t heard what the solutions are. 
Who is going to pay for the solutions? Not just the town. I am so uninformed; I am nowhere 
near ready to make a decision. After tonight, I feel I don’t trust you.

M. Miville: I don’t recall any discussion by the Council on having a different metal on the short 
span. I never even knew there was shorter span. We heard about the color and the deck but never 
the span. It is a goof up on the town because we paid someone big bucks but now it is a joke. I 
am now ashamed of that bridge. It looks like a bridge it shouldn’t look like. I don’t want to look 
at it. You need to be accountable for this. Either you or the contractor but it isn’t us.

J. Levesque: We were led to believe there would be three (3) spans that would be the same. I 
would think you could use the same outside diameter with a lighter metal. We all thought the 
bridge would have symmetry. We understand it was cheaper but I don’t think you were looking 
out for our best interest. Why wasn’t that brought to us. Maybe we should have had more 
meetings and recorded them. It didn’t come out like it was supposed to. I am disappointed; it can 
be fixed but at a big cost.

D. Ross: Was the consideration taken that steel has color? The color of the steel is different on 
the north section. Will that equalize with time or is it going to get worst?

Bob Durfee: The steel for the south, center and north are all the same. Depending on when it was 
fabricating, it is rusting at different times. It is the same steel. It should be weatherizing the same. 
Eventually it should look the same with the exception if it weathers with exposure to air, sunlight 

26



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

14

and water. The RR Bridge is providing shade to some sections differently so they may not 
weatherize the same throughout.

D. Winterton: When the shop drawings came in, were they shown to anyone at the town?

Bob Durfee: No, that was not part of the contract.

D. Winterton: The first night this issue came to the Council, I said having gone through the 
sewer situation in this town, it took eight (8) years to come to a settlement. It will come down to 
who has the best lawyer and that is sad.

R. Duhaime motioned to table the motion. Seconded by D. Winterton,
Vote unanimously in favor (T. Tsantoulis abstained)

NEW BUSINESS
Acceptance of Bid for Installing Town wide LED Street Lights
Staff Report - Town wide LED Street lights.docx
Transfer #2018-04.pdf
LED Bid Spreadsheet.pdf
Pine Ridge LED Bid.pdf
Power Secure LED Lighting.pdf
Affinity LED Lighting.pdf
Utility Service - Low LED Bid.pdf

Dr. Shankle recommends throwing out all the bids and starting again.

D. Boyce: We wanted to encumber the funds so we want to move quickly.

J. Sullivan: We followed the bid process and we don’t have to always go with the low bid.

Dr. Shankle: The issue they raised was whether the wattage of the lights will do what we want. If 
we put those lights up and they are not as bright as we expect we will be disappointed. S. Keach 
stated that we didn’t put the wattage we wanted in the bid. One bidder gave the cheapest way.

D. Winterton: I suggest since we contract engineers, we should hire a lighting engineer to help us 
with this bid process.

T. Tsantoulis: I sat in on the presentations by the bidders. The LED is not that different. 
Currently we have vapor lights and RPS which take a lot of energy with a refractor that gets 
dirty. When they came up with LED, they can have open bottom with clear white light. You 
can’t replace the LED with the same wattage that you had or you get too much light. You also 
want to keep light out of peoples’ windows. If you didn’t reduce the wattage, you wouldn’t get 
the savings. When Manchester went to LED, they used Philips they got complaints that they 
were too bright. You always get complaints. I liked USA and would like to see them closer to 
what we want. LED lights have a 10 year warrantee because not much goes wrong except for an 
accident or tree limbs. In Manchester, 90% of the lights are on. If you looked prior to LED’s 

27



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

15

75% were on. They are different but you will get used to it. I’m in favor of the bid but I’m ok 
with postponing it. You will save over a short period of time.

J. Giotas: My concern is there didn’t seem to be an apple to apple comparison so I’m in favor of
postponing this.

Dr. Shankle: If we are going to get someone to write the specs, I don’t think we should try and 
do it this year.

R. Duhaime: Just ask everyone to rebid with the same wattage. They don’t have to redo the 
whole bid.

D. Winterton: When a business comes in for approval from the Planning Board, we have 
regulation on the light and the lumens and we require them to get that from an engineer. We 
should do the same.

D. Ross: It is not just costs; it is how it will look. Having a numerical equivalency is important. 
We may want to consider the look. To encumber funds is a bad idea to push something through.

D. Winterton motioned to accept the recommendation of the DPW Director of awarding Pine 
Ridge Technology Inco the bid for the Town wide LED streetlights.
Seconded by D. Ross.
Vote 0:8 motion failed

D. Winterton motioned to reject all other bids for LED streetlights. Seconded by T. Tsantoulis.
Vote unanimously in favor

D. Winterton motioned to direct the Town Administrator to engage in a new bid project and 
engage a lighting engineer to assist in the process. Seconded by J. Levesque.

J. Levesque: I would like to see a sample of the complete model.

Vote unanimously in favor

Acceptance of Bid for Crack Sealing
Staff Report - 2018 Crack Seal Bids.docx
2018 Crack seal bid-Superior Sealcoat.pdf
2018 Crack seal Bid-Sealcoating, Inc..pdf

D. Winterton motioned to accept the lowest bid from Superior Sealcoat in the amount of 
$38,300 for the 2018 roadway crack sealing project. Seconded by D. Ross.

Roll Call
J. Giotas Yes
D. Ross Yes
M. Miville Yes

28



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

16

R. Duhaime Yes
T. Tsantoulis Yes
J. Levesque Yes
D. Winterton Yes
J. Sullivan Yes
Vote unanimously in favor

Natural Gas Supply Bids
SR Natual Gas Bid 2018.docx

D. Winterton motioned to have the Town Administrator sign a natural gas contract for 36 
months with UMB Bulk Energy as the agent. Seconded by R. Duhaime
Vote unanimously in favor

Volunteer Appreciation Day Dinner - Selecting a Date 
Volunteer appreciation 2018.pdf
Nick Germaine: Last year and in previously years it has been a Friday in June. 

D. Winterton motioned to set the date for the Volunteer Dinner as Friday, June 15, 2018. 
Seconded by T. Tsantoulis
Vote unanimously in favor

Town Personnel Plan Update(s) - Town Drug Testing Program
Staff Report TPP 042518.docx
DRAFT Personnel Plan 042518.docx

R. Duhaime motioned to approve the amendments to the Town Personnel Plan as presented 
effective April 25, 2018. Seconded by T. Tsantoulis.

D. Fitzpatrick: The testing will be change to opioids to comply with the US Department of 
Transportation.

D. Ross: Will these tests cost more?

D. Fitzpatrick: They are one dollar more with six randomly selected each quarter.

Vote unanimously in favor

District #4 Town Councilor Vacancy as of 05/01/18
Staff Report TC District #4 Vacancy 050118.docx

D. Ross motioned to declare the vacancy of Councilor in District #4 as of May 1st per Charter 
3.3. Seconded by M. Miville.
Vote unanimously in favor

D. Ross motioned to appoint John Durand to fill the District #4 Council seat vacancy through 

29



Town Council Meeting – April 25, 2018

17

June 30, 2018 per Town Charter Section 3.3. Seconded by M. Miville.
Vote 7:1 

Subcommittee
J. Levesque: The transfer station met regarding the glass and decided to continue as is and see 
what the other towns do. 

D. Winterton: The Planning Board challenged a subdivision but the Board did allow it.
The new dorm proposed at SNHU has been postponed.

The meeting with SNHU today included a public safety meeting which included Chief Bouchard. 
It was effective and included internships with students. SNHU was very impressed with the 
active shoot drills conducted by the Hooksett PD. The leadership class that the Chief will take 
was granted a scholarship during our meeting.
The proposed SNHU sign has been cancelled.

R. Duhaime: Fire Union negotiations are off to a good start.

M. Miville: I distributed a document from the Local Officials workshop I attended in 
Peterborough. There is some valuable information. 
At the Economic Development meeting they discussed the sewer and zoning on the 28 By-Pass.
Park and Rec Advisory Board- There is another Eagle Scout project proposed for a practice wall 
for Lacrosse.
HYAA said there was a request from Amoskeag Rugby Team to use the field.
HYAA is looking to fundraise $200,000 for lighting for the Peterbrook Fields.
The Board is also looking for Hooksett email addresses in light of the Right to Know law.
Marc Miville thanked the Council and has enjoyed his time on the Board.

D. Winterton: The Sewer Commission has a workshop scheduled for Monday, April 30th at 10 
am.

D. Winterton motioned to appoint Alex Walczyk as Council Secretary. Seconded by D. Ross.
Vote unanimously in favor

PUBLIC INPUT
No public comment.

ADJOURNMENT
R. Duhaime motioned to adjourn at 10:45 pm. Seconded by D. Winterton. 
Vote unanimously in favor.

Respectfully submitted,

Lee Ann Moynihan

30



TOWN COUNCIL MINUTES- DRAFT (unofficial)
Special Meeting

Monday, April 30, 2018
6:00 PM

Council Chambers

1.    CALL TO ORDER
Chair Sullivan called the Special Meeting to order at 6:00pm.

2.    PROOF OF POSTING
Donna Fitzpatrick confirmed the proof of posting.

3.    ROLL CALL ATTENDANCE
Chair James Sullivan, Marc Miville, Robert Duhaime, Donald Winterton, John Giotas, Timothy Tsantoulis, and 
Alex Walczyk..
Missed:  James Levesque and David Ross.

4.    PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

5.    NEW BUSINESS

Certificate of Vote - Bond & Loan Agreement for $1,102,500 financing: 1) the construction of 
improvements to the Safety Center and 2) the purchase of a rescue pumper and equipment per 
favorable votes duly at Town annual meeting of March 13, 2018 under Articles 4 and 5 of the 
Warrant.
Staff Report Cert Vote Bond 043018.docx

NHMBB Certificate of Vote (Hooksett) (M3851238x9DD8D).doc

D. Winterton motioned to authorize the attached resolution.  Seconded by T. Tsantoulis.

Roll Call
D. Winterton – yes
J. Giotas – yes
T. Tsantoulis – yes
A. Walczyk – yes
R. Duhaime – yes
M. Miville – yes
J. Sullivan – yes
Vote 7 in favor (7:0)

6.    OTHER
None.

7.    ADJOURNMENT

D. Winterton motioned to adjourn the special meeting of 04/30/18 at 6:05pm.  Seconded by T. 
Tsantoulis. Vote unanimously in favor.

Respectfully submitted by,  
Donna Fitzpatrick
Recording Clerk

31



Staff Report
Title: K9 Program Donation

Date: 05-09-2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Monique Cote-Melendez of Hooksett, would like to donate $2,500.00 to the Hooksett Police 
Department.  Mrs. Cote-Melendez requests the money be used to help fund the K9 Program.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Motion to accept the donation of $2,500.00 from Monique Cote-Melendez, to the Town of 
Hooksett for the Hooksett Police Department per RSA 31:95-b, III (b) and return that amount 
to the Police Departments 2017-2018/2018-2019 fiscal budget, Donation line. 

Fiscal Impact
None

Prepared By: Captain Jake Robie
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

32



Staff Report
Lilac Pedestrian Bridge Change Order 2

Date: 5-9-18
Background Discussion of Issues
The original change order 2, regarding payment for work done due to the shutdown of the Lilac 
Pedestrian Bridge – Cease Work Order – was issued to DuBois and King by ED Swett in 
December of 2017, and CC’d to the Town of Hooksett. On December 20, 2017 Jim Donison 
responded to the change order basically suggesting that the Town pay only the items listed that 
were completed.  The memo the Council received from Steve Keach our contracted engineer 
suggested the same payments.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
I recommend that the Town Council approve partial payment of Change Order 2 in the amount 
of $93,896.36 to cover the costs of:
2.1 Winter temporary bypass of sewer system                    $17,714.54
2.2 Temporary Bypass Sewer System                                     $68,181.82
2.3 Demobilization (winter 2018)                                           $   5,000.00
2.4 Install Site Security Measurers for Winter Shutdown   $   3,000.00

Total Partial payments Change Order 2                                  $93,896.36

Fiscal Impact
$93,896.36 from the Lilac Pedestrian Bridge Professional Service line

Prepared By: Diane Boyce, DPW Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

33



1/18/1818

1818

34



35



36



37



38



39



10 Commerce Park North, Suite 3B Bedford, NH 03110 Phone (603) 627-2881 Fax (603) 627-2915 

Civil Engineering Land Surveying Landscape Architecture 

 

Memo 

To:  Diane Boyce; Director – Hooksett Department of Public Works 

From:  Steven B. Keach, P.E. 

Date:   April 05, 2018 

Subject:      Lilac Bridge – Change Order No. 2           

Hooksett, New Hampshire                     
KNA Project No. 18-0402-4  

Pursuant to your request of April 3rd I have reviewed Change Order No. 2 as issued and 
recommended by the Dubois & King, Inc. (Engineer) on January 18, 2018.  Based upon 
my review I offer the following remarks: 

 It appears the scope of additional work covered under this Change Order (as 
summarized on Pages No. 2 through 6) is the result of both a Stop Work Order 
issued by the Town on October 06, 2017 and the Town’s subsequent request to 
E.D. Swett, Inc. (EDS) for a work plan and corresponding cost proposal for a 
series of supplemental work items including: winterization of temporary sewer 
bypass system; and maintenance of sewage pumping throughout winter months. 
Other work identified under Change Order No. 2 includes: consideration for 
performing certain work activities under winter conditions; demobilization for 
winter shut-down and re-mobilization for resumption of work this spring; and 
increased efforts realized by EDS as a result of delays associated with the Stop 
Work Order.   

 As presented, Change Order No. 2 contemplates an increase in Contract Price 
of $240,134.01 as well as an increase in Contract Time to achieve Substantial 
Completion of 154 days (from December 11, 2017 to May 14, 2018).  

 A detailed cost breakdown of all Change Order No. 2 work items is provided at 
Pages No. 2 through 6. Based upon our review of this breakdown we take no 
exception to projected or realized costs associated with Items 2.1 (Winterize 
Temporary Bypass Sewer System); 2.2 (Temporary Bypass Sewer System); 2.3 
(Demobilization); and 2.4 (Installation of Site Security Measures for Winter 
Shutdown) as presented.  Under Item 2.5 EDS seeks compensation for spring 
2018 re-mobilization costs.  Constituent costs cited under this Item include 
allowances for realized additional costs associated with insurance premiums, 
mobilization of equipment and materials and project administration. While the 

KEACH-NORDSTROM ASSOCIATES, INC. 

40



10 Commerce Park North, Suite 3B Bedford, NH 03110 Phone (603) 627-2881 Fax (603) 627-2915 

Civil Engineering Land Surveying Landscape Architecture 

General Conditions to the Contract appear to support supplemental Contractor 
compensation in the event of delays beyond the Contractor’s control, I would 
recommend EDS provide the Town with a reasonable degree of back-up 
information supporting Item 2.5 Change Order value.  As currently presented, 
Item 2.5 value appears to be the total of three separate lump sums presented in 
“round numbers” without benefit of supporting explanation. Under Items 2.6.1, 
2.6.2, 2.6.3 and 2.7 the Contractor seeks additional compensation for performing 
certain work under winter conditions.  Again, given delay realized as a result of 
last year’s Stop Work Order, it would appear General Conditions of the Contract 
support payment of additional sums.  That said it appears Change Order sums 
requested by Contractor are based on prospective estimates of additional labor 
and equipment costs generated prior to undertaking the work.  To the extent any 
of the cited work is now complete and was in fact performed under winter 
conditions, it would seem reasonable to compensate for additional costs actually 
rather than prospectively realized by the Contractor.  To the extent any work 
identified under these same Items has yet to be performed, it would seem 
unreasonable to compensate for winter conditions given the on-set of spring 
weather.   

 

Let me know if you should have additional questions or further instructions related to 
this matter.  

41



Staff Report
Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-Exempt Obligations

April 9, 2018
Background Discussion of Issues

This policy is needed to determine compliance with the requirements of the Internal Revenue 
Code, in regards to bond issuers (the Town) having adopted written procedures focused on 
maintaining compliance with Code provisions applicable to tax exempt bonds and notes.

The policy has been reviewed by the town’s bond counsel and the financial auditor Matt
Angell.  The policy designates the Finance Director as “Coordinator” and serves to formalize 
as well as document the procedures related to projects financed with bond proceeds, use of 
proceeds, timing of expenditures, record keeping and retention requirements as well as 
continued monitoring of use of bond financed assets.  It follows the requirements of the IRS 
Code.  With the Town currently preparing to finance two projects using the NH Bond Bank,
adoption of this policy and procedures is recommended.

Proposed wording to add to the Administrative Code:
5.9  Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policy and Procedures for Tax-Exempt Obligations.  The 

Council shall review annually.  The general purpose of this policy is to document the 
procedures related to projects financed with tax-exempt bond proceeds, use of proceeds, 
timing of expenditures, record keeping and retention requirements as well as continued 
monitoring of bond financed assets.  See exhibit E for policy details.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)

Motion to approve the Post-Issuance Tax Compliance Policies and Procedures for Tax-Exempt 
Obligations and to include it in the Town’s Administrative Code.  

Fiscal Impact

Prepared By: Christine Soucie, Finance Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

42



Town of Hooksett
35 Main Street

Hooksett, NH  03106

POST-ISSUANCE TAX COMPLIANCE POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR
TAX-EXEMPT OBLIGATIONS

SECTION I: PURPOSE

The purpose of this Tax-Exempt Obligation Post Issuance Compliance Policy and Procedures is 
to establish policies and procedures in connection with tax-exempt bonds and notes (the “Bond” 
or “Bonds”) issued by the Town of Hooksett, New Hampshire (the “Issuer”) so as to maximize 
the likelihood that all applicable post-issuance requirements of federal income tax law needed to 
preserve the tax-exempt status of the Bonds are met.

SECTION II: COMPLIANCE COORIDATOR

A. The Finance Director shall serve as the Compliance Coordinator (“Coordinator”) and be 
responsible for monitoring post-issuance compliance.  

B. The Coordinator will maintain a copy of the transcript of proceedings in connections with 
the issuance of any tax-exempt obligations.  The Coordinator will obtain such records as 
are necessary to meet the requirements of this policy.

C. The Coordinator shall consult with bond counsel, a rebate consultant, financial advisors, 
Internal Revenue Services (“IRS”) publications and other resources as are necessary to 
understand and meet the requirements of this policy.

D. Training and education of the Coordinator and his/her staff will be sought and 
implemented upon the occurrence of new developments and upon the hiring of new 
personnel to implement this policy.

SECTION III: RECORD-KEEPING 

A. Financing Transcripts – The Coordinator shall confirm the proper filing with the IRS of an 
8038 Series return, and maintain a transcript of proceedings for all tax-exempt obligations 
issued by the Issuer, including but not limited to all tax-exempt bonds, notes and lease-
purchase contracts.  Each transcript shall be maintained for as long as the Bonds are 
outstanding, plus three (3) years after the final redemption date of the Bonds.  Said 
transcript may be maintained in electronic format and shall include at a minimum: 

1.   Form 8038s;
2.   Minutes, resolutions, and certificates;
3.   Certifications of issue price from the underwriter, if applicable;
4.   Formal elections required by the IRS;
5.   Trustee statements, if applicable;
6.   Records of refunded bonds, if applicable;
7.   Correspondence relating to bond financing;
8.   Reports of any IRS examinations for bond financing;

   9. Documents related to governmental grants associated with construction, 
renovation, or purchase of bond financed facilities, if applicable;

10. Publications, brochures, and newspaper articles, where applicable.
43



B. Modification to Financing Documents – The Coordinator shall determine if there is any 
“significant modification” to bond documents resulting in reissuance under Treasury 
Regulation §1.1001-3, in consultation with bond counsel and any other legal counsel and 
financial advisor.  The Coordinator shall retain proof of filing new Form 8038 and 
relevant documentation plus final rebate calculation on pre-modification bonds.

SECTION IV: PROPER USE OF PROCEEDS

A. The Coordinator shall review the resolution authorizing issuance for each tax-exempt 
obligation issued by the Issuer and shall:

1. Obtain a computation of the yield on such issue from the Issuer’s financial 
advisor;

2. Create a separate Project Fund (with as many sub-funds as shall be necessary 
to allocate proceeds among the projects being funded by the issue) and a 
separate Cost of Issuance Fund as necessary to allocate proceeds to Bond 
issuance costs into which the proceeds of the issue shall be deposited, as 
applicable;

3. Review all requisitions, draw schedules, draw requests, invoices and bills 
requesting payment form the Project Fund;

4. Determine whether payment from the Project Fund is appropriate, and if so, 
make payment from the Project Fund (and appropriate sub-fund if applicable);

5. Maintain records of the payment requests and corresponding records showing 
payments;

6. Maintain records showing the earnings on, and investment of, the Project 
Fund;

7. Ensure that all investments acquired with proceeds are purchased at fair market 
value;

8. Identify bond proceeds or applicable debt service allocations that must be 
invested with a yield-restriction and monitor the investments of any yield-
restricted funds to ensure that the yield on such investments does not exceed 
the yield to which such investments are restricted;

9. Maintain records related to any investment contracts, credit enhancement 
transactions, and the bidding of financial products related to the proceeds;

10. Monitor and maintain records of the reimbursement of costs previously 
expended by the Issuer to ensure that such reimbursement occurs not more than 
18 months after the later of (i) the dates of the expenditures or (ii) the date the 
project/asset was place in service (but not more than 3 years after the original 
expenditures were paid) except with respect to those expenditures for which 
the Issuer obtained a certificate of licensed engineer/architect to the effect that 
(I) at least five (5) years were necessary to complete the construction of the 
part of the project for which such expenditures were required; and (II) such
expenditures shall be reimbursed not more than five (5) years after the date that 
the original expenditures were paid. 

SECTION V: ARBITRAGE/REBATE COMPLIANCE AND TIMELY EXPENDITURE 
OF PROCEEDS

A. The Coordinator shall review the No Arbitrate and Tax Certificate (or equivalent) (the 
“Certificate”) for each tax-exempt obligation issued by the Issuer and the expenditure 44



records provided in Section III of this policy, above, and shall ensure that the Issuer takes 
the following actions:

1. Monitor and ensure that proceeds of each such issue are spent within the 
temporary period set forth in the Certificate;

2. If at the time of issuance, it appears that the Bonds will qualify for the small 
issuer exception to the rebate requirement, the Coordinator will monitor the 
amount of subsequent tax-exempt obligations issued or proposed to be issued 
in the calendar year in which the Bonds closed to ensure that the Issuer does 
not exceed the $5 million or $15 million threshold, as applicable, in such 
calendar year;

3. If at the time of issuance, based on reasonable expectations set forth in the 
Certificate, it appears likely that the issue will qualify for an exemption from 
the rebate requirement, the Issuer may defer taking any of the actions set forth 
in subsection (4) below.  Not later than the time of completion of construction 
or acquisition of the project, and depletion of all funds from the Project Fund, 
the Issuer shall make a determination if the expenditure of the Bond proceeds 
qualified for an exemption from the rebate requirements based on spending 
within a 6 month, 18 month or 2 year period after issuance.  If a rebate 
exemption is determined to be applicable, the Issuer shall prepare and keep in 
the permanent records of the issue a memorandum evidencing this conclusion 
together with records of expenditure to support such conclusion.  If the 
transaction does not qualify for rebate exemption, the Issuer shall initiate the 
steps set forth in (4) below;

4. If at the time of issuance it appears likely that arbitrage rebate calculations will 
be required, or upon determination that calculations are required pursuant to 
(3) above, the Issuer shall:

a. Engage the service of expert advisors (each a “Rebate Service 
Provider”) to assist in the calculation of arbitrage rebate payable in 
respect of the investment of Bond proceeds, or else shall ensure that it 
has adequate financial, accounting and legal resources of its own to 
make such calculations, and prior to each rebate calculation date, cause 
the trustee or other financial institution investing bond proceeds to 
deliver periodic statements concerning the investment of Bond 
proceeds to the Rebate Service Provider;

b. Provide to the Rebate Service Provider additional documents and 
information reasonable requested by the Rebate Service Provider;

c. Monitor efforts of the Rebate Service Provider;
d. Assure payment of required rebate amounts, if any, no later than 60 

days after each 5-year anniversary of the issue date of the Bonds, and 
no later than 60 days after the last Bond of each issue is redeemed.

e. During the construction period of each capital project financed in whole 
or in part by Bonds, monitor the investment and expenditure of Bond 
proceeds and consult with the Rebate Service Provider to determine 
compliance with any applicable exceptions from the arbitrage rebate 
requirements during each 6-month spending period up to 6 months, 18 
months or 2 years, as applicable, following the issue date of the Bonds.

f. Retain copies of all arbitrage reports, trustee statements and other 
documents as required herein;

45



g. In lieu of engaging an outside Rebate Service Provider, the Issuer may 
make a determination that it has sufficient capabilities using its own 
personnel, supported by its regular accounting and legal advisers, to be 
able to make the required rebate calculations. Such determination shall 
be evidenced in writing with specific reference to the personnel and 
advisers to carry out the calculations, and such written determination 
shall be maintained in the records of the bond transaction.

SECTION VI: PROPER USE OF BOND FINANCED ASSETS

A. The Coordinator shall maintain appropriate records and a list of all bond financed assets.  
Such records shall include the actual amount of the proceeds (including investment 
earnings) spent on each of the bond financed assets.

B. With respect to each bond financed asset, the Coordinator will monitor and confer with 
bond counsel with respects to all proposed:
1. Management contracts;
2. Service agreements;
3. Research contracts;
4. Naming rights contracts;
5. Lease or sub-leases;
6. Joint venture, limited liability or partnership arrangements;
7. Sale of property or;
8. Any other change in use of such asset.

C. Section 141 of the Code sets forth private activity tests for the purpose of limiting the 
volume of tax-exempt bonds that finance activities of persons other than state and local 
governmental entities.  These tests serve to identify arrangements that actually or 
reasonably expect to transfer the benefits of tax-exempt financing to non-governmental 
persons, including the federal government.  The Coordinator shall provide to the users of 
any bond financed property a copy of this Compliance Policy and other appropriate 
written guidance advising that:
1. “Private business use” means use by any person other than the Issuer, including 

business corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, associations, non-
profits corporations, natural persons engaged in trade or business activity, and the 
United States of America and any federal agency, as a result of ownership of the 
property or use of the property under a lease, management or service contract (except 
for certain “qualified” management or service contracts), “naming rights” contract, 
“public-private partnership” arrangement, or any similar use arrangement that provides 
special legal entitlements for the use of the bond financed property;

2. No more than 10% of the proceeds of any tax-exempt bond issued (including the 
property financed with the Bonds) may be used for private business use, of which no 
more than 5% of the proceeds of the tax-exempt bond issued (including the property 
financed with the bonds) may be used for any “unrelated” private business use - that 
is, generally, a private business use that is not functionally related to the government’s 
purposes of the Bonds; and no more than the lesser of $5,000,000 or 5% of the 
proceeds of a tax-exempt bond issued may be used to make or finance a loan to any 
person other than a state or local government unit;

3. Before entering into a special use arrangement with a non-governmental person that 
involves the use of bond financed property, the Coordinator will consult with bond 
counsel, provide bond counsel with a description of the proposed non-governmental 46



use arrangement, and determine whether that use arrangement, if put into effect, will 
be consistent with the restrictions on private business use of the bond financed 
property;

4. In connection with the evaluation of any proposed non-governmental use arrangement, 
the Issuer will consult with bond counsel to obtain federal tax advice in whether that 
use arrangement, if put into effect, will be consistent with the restrictions on private 
business use of the bond financed property, and if not, whether any “remedial action” 
permitting under §141 of the Code may be taken as means of enabling that use 
arrangement to be put into effect without adversely affecting the tax-exempt status of 
the Bonds.

D. The Coordinator shall maintain a copy of any such proposed agreement, contract, lease or 
arrangement, together with the response by bond counsel with respect to said proposal for 
at least three (3) years after retirement of all tax-exempt obligations issued to fund all or 
any portion of bond financed assets.  

E. The Coordinator shall consult with bond counsel and other legal counsel and advisers in 
the review of any change in use of bond-financed or refinanced assets to ensure 
compliance with all covenants and restriction set forth in the Certificate.

F. The Coordinator shall confer at least annually with other personnel responsible for bond-
financed or refinanced assets, to identify and discuss any existing or planned use of bond-
financed or refinanced assets, to ensure that those uses are consistent with all covenants 
and restrictions set forth in the Certificate.

G. To the extent that the Coordinator discovers that any applicable tax restrictions regarding 
use of bond proceeds and bond-financed or refinanced assets will or may be violated, the 
Coordinator shall consult promptly with bond counsel and other legal counsel and advisers 
to determine a course of action to remediate all nonqualified bonds, if such counsel 
advises that a remedial action is necessary.

SECTION VII: BANK QUALIFICATION

If the Bonds are issued in a par amount of $10 million or less and designated by the Issuer as 
“bank qualified” under Section 265(b)(3) of the Code, the Coordinator will monitor the amount of 
subsequent tax-exempt obligations issued or proposed to be issued in the calendar year in which 
the Bonds closed to ensure that the Issuer does not exceed the $10 million threshold in such 
calendar year.

SECTION VIII: GENERAL PROJECT RECORDS 

A. For each project financed with tax-exempt obligations, the Coordinator shall maintain a 
copy of all material documents relating to capital expenditures financed or refinanced by 
tax-exempt proceeds, until three (3) years after retirement of the tax-exempt obligations or 
obligations issued to refund those obligations including (without limitation), the 
following:
1. Appraisals, demand surveys or feasibility studies;
2. Applications, approvals and other documentation of grants;
3. Depreciation schedules;
4. Contracts respecting the project, including construction contracts;
5. Purchase order;
6. Invoices,
7. Trustee requisitions and payment records; 47



8. Documents relating to costs reimbursed with Bond proceeds;
9. Records identifying the assets or portion of assets that are financed or refinanced with 

Bond proceeds, including a final allocation of proceeds.

SECTION IX: ADVANCE REFUNDINGS

A. The Coordinator, shall be responsible for the following current, post issuance and record 
retention procedures with respect to advance refunding bonds:
1. Identify and select bonds to be advance refunded and advice from internal financial 

personnel, and a financial advisor.
2. The Coordinator shall identify, with advice from the financial advisor and bond 

counsel, any possible federal tax compliance issues prior to structuring any advance 
refunding.

3. The Coordinator shall review the structure with the input of the financial advisor and 
bond counsel, of advance refunding issues prior to the issuance to ensure:
a. That the proposed refunding is permitted pursuant to applicable federal tax 

requirements if there has been a prior refunding of the original bond issues;
b. That the proposed issuance complies with federal income tax requirements which 

might impose restrictions on the redemption date of the refunded bonds;
c. That the proposed issuance complies with federal income tax requirements which 

allows for the proceeds and replacement proceeds of an issue to be invested 
temporarily in higher yielding investments without causing the advance refunding 
bonds to become “arbitrage bonds”;

d. That the proposed issuance will not result in the issuer’s exploitation of the 
difference between tax exempt and taxable interest rates to obtain a financial 
advantage nor overburden the tax exempt market in a way that might be 
considered an abusive transaction for federal tax purposes;

e. That the proposed refunding complies with applicable State law.
4. The Coordinator shall collect and review data related to arbitrage yield restriction and 

rebate requirements for advance refunding bonds.  To ensure such compliance, the 
Coordinator shall engage a rebate consultant to prepare a verification report in 
connection with the advance refunding issuance.  Said report shall ensure said 
requirements are satisfied.

5. The Coordinator shall, whenever possible, purchases SLGS to size each advance 
refunding escrow.  The financial advisor and/or bond counsel shall be included in the 
process of subscribing SLGS.  To the extent SLGS are not available for purchase, the 
Coordinator shall, in consultation with bond counsel and the financial advisor, comply 
with IRS regulations.

6. To the extent the Issuer elects to purchase a guaranteed investment contract, the 
Coordinator shall ensure, after input from bond counsel, compliance with any bidding 
requirements set forth by the IRS regulations.

7. In determining the issue price for any advance refunding issuance, the Coordinator 
shall obtain and retain issue price certification by the purchasing underwriter at 
closing.

8. After the issuance of an advance refunding issue, the Coordinator shall ensure timely 
identification of violations of any federal tax requirements and engage bond counsel in 
attempt to remediate same in accordance with IRS regulations.

SECTION X: CONTINUING DISCLOSURE 48



A. The Coordinator shall assure compliance with each continuing disclosure certificate and 
annually, per continuing disclosure agreements, file audited annual financial statements 
and other information required by each continuing disclosure agreement.  The Coordinator 
will monitor material events as described in each continuing disclosure agreement and 
assure compliance with material event disclosure.  Events to be reported shall be reported 
promptly, but in no event not later than ten (10) Business Days after the day of the 
occurrence of the event.  Currently, such notice shall be given in the event of:
1. Principal and interest payment delinquencies;
2. Non-payment related defaults, if material;
3. Unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;
4. Unscheduled draws on credit enhancements relating to the bonds reflecting financial 

difficulties;
5. Substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;
6. Adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or 

final determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or 
other material notices or determinations with respect to the tax-exempt status of the 
bonds, or material events affecting the tax-exempt status of the bonds;

7. Modifications to rights of Holders of the Bonds, if material;
8. Bond calls (excluding sinking fund mandatory redemptions), if material, and tender 

offers;
9. Defeasances of bonds;
10. Release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the bonds, if material;
11. Rating changes on the bonds;
12. Bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the Issuer;
13. The consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving the Issuer or 

the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer, other than in the ordinary 
course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action or 
the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than 
pursuant to its terms, if material;

14. Appointment of a successor or additional trustee or the change of name of a trustee, if 
material.

SECTION XI: DUE DILIGENCE AND REMEDIAL ACTIONS

In all activities related to the Issuer’s Bonds, the Coordinator and his/her staff will exercise due 
diligence to comply with the Code provisions governing tax-exempt obligations.  The Issuer is 
aware of (a) the Voluntary Closing Agreement Program (known as “VCAP”) operated by the IRS 
which allows issuers to voluntarily enter into a closing agreement in the event of certain non-
compliance with the Federal tax requirements and (b) the remedial actions available under 
Section 1.141-12 of the Income Tax Regulations for private use of bond financed property which 
was not expected at the time the Bonds were issued.

SECTION XII: PERIODIC REVIEW

The Issuer will monitor compliance with the guidelines contained in this policy as well as any 
other covenants not specifically included herein and will review and update these guidelines at 
least annually and whenever necessary due to changes in the law and circumstances.

49



Staff Report
15 Cross Road, LLC Agreement

5/9/2018
Background Discussion of Issues

A site bond for $50,480.00 is in place to finish paving, and other improvements to 15 Cross 
Road Tax Map 17 Lot 37. The bond was put in place by the original owners MTS Associates, 
LLC and PM-Cross, LLC.  The Town is the holder of the bond.  The new owners (15 Cross 
Road LLC) of the property ask the Town to complete the project as they purchased the property 
in good faith, relying on the fact the subdivision would be complete.   Attached is a 
Memorandum of Agreement with 15 Cross Road LLC to allow them to complete the subdivision 
work with the bond proceed.  The Town will only be responsible for the bond proceeds.

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)

Motion to have the Chairman sign the Memorandum of Agreement with 15 Cross Road LLC, 
where the Town will provide the bond proceeds to 15 Cross Road LLC and they will complete 
the subdivision improvements at 15 Cross Road Tax Map 17 Lot 37. 

Fiscal Impact
Attorney’s fee to review agreement.   

Prepared By: Christine Soucie, Finance Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

50



MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT
15 Cross Road, LLC and the Town of Hooksett

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT (“Agreement”), made this      day of December, 2017, by and 

between 15 Cross Road, LLC, a New Hampshire Limited Liability Company with a principal place 

of business at 1662 Elm Street, Manchester, New Hampshire 03101 (hereinafter "Cross Road”), and 

the Town of Hooksett, a New Hampshire municipality with a principal place of business at 35 Main 

Street, Hooksett, New Hampshire 03106 (the “Town”) (collectively, the “Parties”).

WHEREAS, 15 Cross Road, LLC, acquired property located at 15 Cross Road, Hooksett, New 

Hampshire, Tax Map 17, Lot 37 (the “Property”), on October 30, 2014 at foreclosure sale relying on 

a completed subdivision;

WHEREAS, the Property received subdivision approval for a two lot subdivision from the Town on 

March 29, 2007;

WHEREAS, certain improvements to the subdivision are not completed, including a final wearing 

course pavement on and curbing along the private road shown on the subdivision;

WHEREAS, The prior developers of the subdivision, MTS Associates, LLC, and PM-Cross, LLC, 

no longer have the legal and/or financial capability to complete the required improvements;

WHEREAS, There is currently posted a bond to complete these improvements, numbered 41146502,

in favor of the Town of Hooksett in the amount of $50,480.00 issued by the Platte River Insurance 

Company, PO Box 5900, Madison Wisconsin 53705 (the “Bond”);

WHEREAS, The Town of Hooksett is the holder of the Bond to ensure project completion of the 

subdivision under the terms of the 2007 approval of the Hooksett Planning Board; and

WHEREAS, Cross Road desires and has the capability to complete the required improvements.

51



NOW THEREFORE, The Parties have entered into this Memorandum of Understanding for the 

purpose of memorializing the material terms and conditions under which Cross Road will receive 

bond proceeds in the amount of $50,480.00 from the Town of Hooksett for the stated purposes of 

completing outstanding road improvement work required by a certain subdivision plan at 15 Cross 

Road, Hooksett, New Hampshire. The Parties intend this Memorandum to be a binding agreement 

under which Cross Road will complete the required improvements and agree as follows:

1. The Town will call the Bond. 

2. Cross Road and its designees, successors and assigns shall coordinate, manage, pay for and 

complete the required improvements using funds provided by the Bond.

3. In the event the Bond funds are insufficient to complete the required improvements, the 

Town of Hooksett is not responsible for any additional costs above the Bond amount and 

Cross Road holds the Town of Hooksett harmless for any costs to perform the 

improvements above and beyond the Bond monies to be received from Hooksett.

4. In the event Platte River Insurance Company denies the Town’s demand to release the Bond 

funds, the Parties agree that the Town is not responsible, legally or financially, to complete 

the improvements.

5. The road subject to these improvements, as shown on the approved subdivision, is a private 

road.  It is not a Town road, of any class, and the Town has never expressed an intention, 

nor does it now express an intention to accept the road as a Town road.  Notwithstanding, 

the Parties acknowledge and agree that this paragraph does not operate as a bar for the road 

to ever become a Town road.

6. This Agreement is being executed in and will be performed in the State of New 

Hampshire and shall be construed and enforced in accordance with New Hampshire law, 

52



without effect to conflict of law principles.  The Parties hereby consent to the exclusive 

jurisdiction of the State and Federal Courts located in New Hampshire for resolution of 

any issue or dispute arising out of this Agreement. 

7. Fees and Expenses. Each of the parties to this Agreement shall pay its own fees and expenses 

related to the transactions contemplated by this Agreement.

8. This Agreement, and all the terms and provisions hereof, shall inure to the benefit of and 

be binding upon the parties hereto, their respective heirs, executors, administrators, 

personal representatives, successors and permitted assigns.  

TOWN OF HOOKSETT:

                  
Witness

By: ___________________________

15 CROSS ROAD, LLC:

Witness 
By: ___________________________

53



Staff Report
2018 Paving Bids

May 9, 2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Information ……
The bids were sent out for Town wide road paving during the 2018 season. We plan on doing 
the road work to the following streets, Hackett Hill Rd, Zapora Rd, Grandview Drive, Roy Rd, 

The following bids were received:    Advanced Paving  $672,145.00
                                                          Brox Industries      $647,060.00

GMI Asphalt,LLC  $629,015.00
Pike Industries        $650,712.00

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Information ….

I recommend that the Town Council approve the bid from GMI Asphalt for the amount of 
$629,015.00.

Fiscal Impact
We will have $428,000 from this years budget to encumber and will receive another $600,000 as 
budgeted in July

Prepared By: Diane Boyce, DPW Director
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



72



73



74



75



76



77



78



79



80



81



82



83



84



85



86



87



88



89



90



91



92



93



94



95



96



97



98



99



100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



108



109



110



111



112



11
3



11
4



11
5



Staff Report
Title:  Hooksett Shuttle Program  

Date: May 9th, 2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Last year, the Town of Hooksett, through a grant in cooperation with the Manchester Transit Authority and Southern New 
Hampshire Planning Commission, began offering a bi-weekly curb-to-curb shuttle program for all residents of Hooksett. Shuttle 
started providing full service in roughly July of last year and is delivered by way of the MTA’s dispatch service every Tuesday 
and Thursday from 9am to 2pm. Hooksett Citizens call the MTA’s 

Currently, there are no restrictions on where the shuttle will take passengers, except for a 1 hour drive radius the MTA imposed 
to preserve the schedule of other programs the shuttle is shared between. 

For the majority of the first year of service, the Family Services department essentially oversaw the program. Advertising for the 
operation of the service was relatively limited outside of news items on the website, tax bill inserts, and flyers you might’ve seen 
around town hall. Given the staff transitions that have taken place, the Town Administrator assigned new staff to engage the 
principle entities involved with the shuttle program so it wouldn’t fall off the town’s radar. 

Subsequently, the new Town Planner and Family Services Director, in conjunction with the Administration Department, has
engaged the SNHPC and MTA about the state of the program. Staff in fact met with the MTA’s Executive Director and Regional 
Program Coordinator on April 24th to discuss the service at length. 

Happily, it appears ride numbers (defined as unique trips from one location to another) have been relatively healthy for a new 
program. However, the MTA has discovered an inordinate amount of time is being spent on trips associated with a pair of unique 
riders on a weekly basis, to the point that on some days almost 90% of usage time is spent on essentially two trips. 

MTA makes the recommendation that the town limits general trips to the Hooksett-Manchester area, with medical trips 
extenuating to Bedford. 

Staff is intending to advertise and promote the service more for this final year of the current grant, but before that commences; it’s 
likely a good idea to adjust ridership criteria to some extent. 

Town staff recommends that Hooksett implements provisional rule changes that are comparatively less radical than the MTA’s 
proposal:

 For one day each week (Tuesday or Thursday), restrict the transportation to Hooksett-Manchester and medical 
appointments to Bedford and Concord. Allow staff time to collect data, monitor the situation, and provide a more 
comprehensive report and possible permanent rule changes at the next workshop. 

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
Approve temporary changes to the Hooksett Shuttle Program; consider approving the implementation of 
more stringent ridership rules at the council’s workshop.

Fiscal Impact
None – cost of participation in the grant was $8,000 for two years. MTA reports grant program appears 
to be secure for a new application at the end of the second year. Although there might be competition
with other towns to participate in the future, as long as Hooksett stays proactive in Region 8 
transportation planning meetings, the option of continued participation beyond year 2 is likely 
preserved.  
Prepared By: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

116



Staff Report
Title:  Tax Bill Newsletter

Date: May 9th, 2018
Background Discussion of Issues
Bi-annual tax bills are expected to begin going out in late May. Traditionally, Town Council has approved of a draft 
newsletter to be sent out as an insert into the tax bills.  A couple departments have put forward items they’d like to 
see in a possible newsletter. 

Council is free to make additions or subtractions. 

Recommendation (Including Suggested motion, if appropriate)
View the current newsletter draft as constituted and propose any changes or additions. Vote to approve 
sending out a newsletter in the spring tax bill.

Fiscal Impact
Cost approximately $600.00 to create the insert in 2017.

Prepared By: Nick Germain, Project Coordinator 
Town Administrator’s Recommendation
Concur

117



118



119



120



121


	Town Council Agenda
	2016-950 - Staff_Report 2018 COY.docx
	2016-950 - COY.pdf
	2016-933 - Quarterly Financial Report 3-31-18.pdf
	2016-939 - TC Agenda 042518.docx
	2016-941 - TC Minutes 043018-U.docx
	2016-936 - Staff Report - Cote-Melendez K9 Donation.docx
	2016-942 - Staff Report - Lilac Pedestrial Bridge - Change order 2.docx
	2016-942 - Lilac Pedestrian Bridge Change Order 2.pdf
	2016-942 - LilacBridge#2.Memo - S. Keach.pdf
	2016-934 - SR Post Issucance Policy.docx
	2016-934 - Hooksett's Post Issuance Compliance Policy.doc
	2016-953 - SR 15 Cross Road.docx
	2016-953 - MOU Cross Road.12.04.17.CLEAN.DOCX
	2016-935 - Staff Report - 2018 Road Paving Bids.docx
	2016-935 - 2018 Advanced Paving Bid.pdf
	2016-935 - 2018 GMI Asphalt Paving Bid.pdf
	2016-935 - 2018 Brox Paving Bid.pdf
	2016-935 - 2018 Pike Paving Bid.pdf
	2016-945 - Comcast Letter 041018.pdf
	2016-940 - staff report - shuttle program.docx
	2016-948 - Staff_Report_-__Tax_Bill_Newsletter.docx
	2016-916 - FIRE CHIEF BURKUSH CONTRACT AMEND 042617.pdf

